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Rae Ann Kremer, Carol Low, Irving Sachrit


[0:00:00]
Interviewer:
May 29th, 1979.  This is Rae Ann Kremer and Carol Low with Metropolitan Interfaith Association on the Vollintine Evergreen Neighborhood of Public Policy Project.  We are funded by a grant from the Tennessee Committee for the Humanities.  We are about to interview Mr. Irving Sachrit who has lived at – what's your address on Sheridan?
Interviewee:
899.

Interviewer:
899 Sheridan since when?

Interviewee:
We've lived at 899 Sheridan for about six years but we've been in the neighborhood since 1952.  We moved here from Philadelphia in 1952 and I've lived in – We've lived in four or five different places all within the same voting precinct actually.

Interviewer:
Uh-huh.  Where were your other residences?

Interviewee:
800 Maury.  Then we lived over on McNeil, 1083 North McNeil.  Then we moved over on –

[0:01:00]

Kensington which is two blocks away.  And when the great exile came to move east we moved east.  We're now two blocks further east than we were when we were on Kensington.

Interviewer:
So obviously you like your neighborhood.

Interviewee:
Yes, we've been here, like I say, since 1952 and if we wanted to move we've had plenty of opportunities to move.  But we chose to stay here because we like this neighborhood.

Interviewer:
What makes this neighborhood special?

Interviewee:
To me the think that makes it special is the fact that the people who live here have not become homogenized.  When you get into the other parts of town, especially in your newer sections, everybody thinks like everybody else, everybody wants to look like everybody else.  They all want to drive the same cars.  And there's no room for individuality.  


For good or bad, and whether you believe me, 
[0:02:00]

I like to be an individual.  I like to think the way I want to think and I won't care what the other guy thinks.  And I think many people in the neighborhood feel the same way about it or else they wouldn't have stayed here through the whole changing neighborhood situation that we've gone through, I think they would've moved out.

Interviewer:
So was the neighborhood as individualistic when you moved in in 1952?  What was it like when you moved here?
Interviewee:
In 1952 we bought a dime store, a variety store, as the corner of Jackson and Watkins.  At that time Jackson and Watkins were the small, neighborhood shopping centers.  This was before the day of the huge, huge mall and before the day of the huge shopping centers.  But everything was in the neighborhood.  From Watkins to Garland – 

[0:03:00]

on Jackson was a gas station, my little variety store, a barber shop –
Interviewer:
Would you give the name of all these businesses?

Interviewee:
Yeah, there was a Sinclair gas station which was run by the Rogers brothers.  Next door coming east was my little store called the Ideal Five and Ten.  Next to it was a barbershop and a beauty shop.  The beauty shop was run by Mossy somebody.  The barbershop: I don't remember the name of the man who ran it.  Then it was the Bobbitt Smart Drug Store.  Then there was a bakery run by a Mr. Lemons I believe was his name.  There was a small Kroger store.  There was a jewelry store at the corner.

Interviewer:
Who owned the jewelry store?

Interviewee:
I think his first name was Frank –

[0:04:00]

but I don't remember his last name.  In those days we had a bus stop, transferred the cross town bus, and went down Watkins.  In town buses went down Jackson and it was a transfer point.  On that corner too, where the First National Bank is now, we had the Rosemary Picture Show.  I don't know if you remember the Rosemary or not, but years ago neighborhood movies were an important thing and we used to get kids going to the picture show and then they would stop in at the dime store and pick up candy and stuff like that.

Interviewer:
When did the Rosemary close?  Do you remember?
Interviewee:
No, it was in the late '50's, early '60's somewhere.  
[0:05:00]

I don't remember exactly when it closed.  I think it closed and the Lucy Ann closed about the same time.  All the neighborhood movies collapsed about the same time because the entire neighborhoods collapsed.  Neighborhood shopping collapsed in the '50's at Airways and Lamar when they first started the first big neighborhood shopping center in Memphis, everything else collapsed.

[5:31:13]

Interviewer:
What was the name on of the place on Lamar?

Interviewee:
Cat's Drug Store opened up there.  Just that neighborhood shopping center: that was the first big shopping center complex that had off street parking.  At that point everything else that was neighborhood oriented died, or shortly thereafter.  We had another shopping area in the neighborhood.  Part of it is still viable up here at Evergreen and Jackson –

[0:06:00]

where Bulloch's Drug Store is now.  There was another shopping are at Marley and Vollintine.  I think now there's one grocery store there and not much else.


But there were three or four of these neighborhood shopping centers that were all within walking distance of the people in the neighborhood.  One of the things that I think has changed all neighborhoods and most of the emphasis has been on the desegregation of the schools.  Now I'm going to digress a minute from the history of this neighborhood.


I don't think enough emphasis has been given to the commercial impact of what happened to the public transportation system when the blacks no longer had to go to the back of the bus in Memphis or anyplace else.  
[0:07:00]

The white people stopped, just like the white people had pulled their kids out of school when the schools became desegregated.  White people stopped using the buses when desegregation of the buses came about.  


At that point there was probably as much of an impact on the commercial life of the community as there was in the residential life when we had the desegregation of the school, because one thing changed residential living patterns.  The other thing completely changed people's shopping habits.

Interviewer:
Isn't that an interesting observation?

Interviewee:
And I didn't think about it until this morning when you called.  I got to thinking: what has happened?  The thing that hit me was the corner that used to be the transfer point for buses was a commercial focus – 

[0:08:00]

just like 69th Street in Philadelphia.
Interviewer:
What year did the buses get desegregated?

Interviewee:
Again, I don't remember.  It was in the late '50's or early '60's.  The school desegregation came along in 1954.  That is, the Supreme Court ruling came about in '54 and I think the buses were as either just before or just after.  Martin Luther King first came to the forefront in Montgomery, Alabama I think.  This was the big fight over desegregating the buses.  It was in Montgomery.  I think Montgomery was nearly killed because of the boycott, the black boycott of Montgomery, over the busing.  

That is, commercial busing not school busing.  But it had a tremendous impact on the shopping habits of people.  And I don't think near enough emphasis has been given that in any of your studies of segregation, desegregation, 
[0:09:00]

and the impact it's had on the social changes in the country.

Getting back – where was I?

Interviewer:
We were talking about the commercial establishments.  You came to the neighborhood and you had your business so obviously you got a home right near your business.

Interviewee:
No, we rented a house not too far, an apartment, and the kids were both small at that time.  In the ensuing years both kids grew up.  They went to Vollintine School.  They went to Snowden School.  They went to Central High School and were – At this point this entire neighborhood revolved around Vollintine/Snowden _______.  


It was the neighborhood where kids walked to school together.  It was the neighborhood where you eventually car pooled to Central.  You walked to Snowden.  You walked to Vollintine.  
[0:10:00]

People didn't jump in the car.  You had a raincoat and kids walked in the rain.  Nobody melted by being out in the rain.  I think the whole town was more – Let me say, they were less vehicle-oriented because kids walked to school.  It didn't kill them.

[10:23:07]


We had Safety Council kids with the big flags to keep people from running them down in the middle of the street.  I don't think anybody got killed.  Certainly nobody melted because of walking in the rain, that's for sure.  The neighborhood had always been (from what I had been told) a melting pot type of neighborhood with the Catholic Church down the street, the Baptist Church down the street.  We had the Greek Orthodox Church – 

[0:11:00]

not too far away on the parkway.


With the Baron Hirsch Synagogue eventually moving out here there were all kinds of people here: all ethnic groups; all white ethnic groups.  The black people at the time lived in the section called Klondike, which is west of Crosstown, north of Jackson.  It was predominantly black.  This section back this way was all white over to Parkway and Overton Park was all white.  Hyde Park was all white.

There may have been – Let's see, there were blacks living over on the other side of Springdale I think, but most of the neighborhood – I don't know how much research you've done, but most of the neighborhood  - 

[0:12:00]

was white until we hit Chelsea and back that way.  It was a group of people where you had your PTA dinner at Vollintine School.  The Greek women brought Greek dishes.  The Jewish women brought Jewish dishes.  The Italian women brought Italian dishes.  And everybody just had one great big time.


Nobody worried about insulting anybody's ethnic background or anything like that.  People were people.  We weren't sensitive then as people are today about anything.

Interviewer:
When did people start getting sensitive?

Interviewee:
I think, with all due respect to the good things they've done, they onset of the NAACP has made people so conscious of – For example, 
[0:13:00]

when I went to school many, many years ago, when you read the story Little Black Sambo you weren't insulting anybody's racial integrity.  Today they don't even let you read Little Black Sambo in the school.  


The NAACP fought the Clement idea of school integration.  I'm not – I think this is about 1952 or 1954.  Frank Clement at the time had the idea of integrating the schools in Tennessee at the first grade level and continuing to integrate the first grade year after year after year so that in 12 years you would've had a gradual integrated school system.  Unfortunately, whoever was in charge of the NAACP at that time said, 
[0:14:00]

"That will take 12 years and it's much too long to wait."  


So they fought it and now here we are 27 years later and we still do not have the completely integrated school system.  And we have upset neighborhoods.  We have relocated people.  We have had social revolution in the country and we still don't have an integrated neighborhood or an integrated school system.

Interviewer:
When did the blacks first start moving into this neighborhood where there were enough numbers that people began to notice?

Interviewee:
About 12 years ago I think.  Time gets away from me.  It seems to me like about 12 years.

Interviewer:
So that would be 67?

Interviewee:
Somewhere around there.

Interviewer:
Before Martin Luther King was killed?

Interviewee:
Yep, I think so.  The integration thing was coming –

[0:15:00]
 
and people were moving into various neighborhoods at that point.  I think what the Martin Luther King assassination did for Memphis was it killed the downtown area.  It didn't do – It didn't have too much impact on the neighborhoods I don't think, but the downtown area completely died at that point.  The area around Thomas and Firestone – I don't know whether you've been there or not – but it has never recovered from broken glass for some reason or another.  


The idea of a healthy pane of glass just cannot be tolerated by some people.  If they see a pane of glass, they've got to throw a rock through it.  It's as simple as that.  Thomas Street is a jungle right now for that reason.  The big thing – 
[15:58:04]
[0:16:00]

Well several things happened that made the neighborhood change and I think this follow a historical pattern in ethnic groups moving in and moving out.  

At this particular point, many of the members of the Jewish community, the Orthodox Jewish community, had made money and it was the thing to move out east and at the same time they would not really admit to themselves that they weren't liberal enough to let their kids go to an integrated school.  So they moved out east to put their kids in other schools or they put their kids in other schools and moved out east.  


I don't know.  It was the chicken and the egg situation.  I don't know which exactly happened first, but the Jewish population moved away from this particular area after they had invested $1.5 Million and put the Synagogue – 

[0:17:00]

right down here at the corner.  Then they all moved away from it.

Interviewer:
Now you think this happened in the late '60's?
Interviewee:
As I recall it was in the late '60's yeah, maybe even sooner, maybe in the middle '60's.  When they moved out they had left a tremendous number of empty homes in the neighborhood.  At the same time you had blacks who were looking for houses to buy and it was a beautiful setup for blockbusting real estate people.  How much of it was due to natural causes, how much was due to blockbusting, we will never know.


But whatever was the cause the effect was the same.  The neighborhood changed from white to gray to black.  There were people in this neighborhood, very stable people.  
[0:18:00]

The people across the street for example, the Datillo's, have lived in that house for 46 years, the only people who have ever lived in the house.

Interviewer:
How do you spell their name?

Interviewer:
D-A-T-I-L-L-O, Datillo.  I mentioned Kirk Lewis lived in this house.  We are the fourth people to live in the house, given 46 years and 50 years have passed through here.  So many people in the neighborhood are very stable people as far as not being transients.  They move into a house to stay.  They don't move in to make a big profit and move out.  The housing values in the neighborhood have gone up in recent years probably a greater proportion than anyplace else other than in Germantown; because we had further to go.

We do find that people moving back into the neighborhood with small children – 

[0:19:00]

because they've found that with busing and the school situation those people who were white flighters, white flyers, had no place else to go.  So they've found that they may as well stay right here in this neighborhood and at least they were getting more for their real estate dollar than they were out east because the houses were built at a time when construction costs were not what they are today.
Interviewer:
Going back to the blockbusting, when did that occur?  Do you remember what years and what was done about it?

Interviewee:
It seems to me that it was somewhere in the late '60's and at this particular point the Memphis Interfaith Association – Is that the name of the group?

Interviewer:
Metropolitan?

Interviewee:
Mm-hmm.

Interviewer:
Interfaith Association?

Interviewee:
Is that?

Interviewer:
Uh-huh.

Interviewee:
That was the – I think that was the beginning of VECA in a way.  What actually had happened – 

[0:20:00]

was the different churches found that they were losing membership.  Now, the churches were perfectly capable to sit by and let anything happen that was going to happen because they were involved with your spirit.  They didn't care too much about your body or anything else.  The churches were primarily concerned with your spirit.  But when the congregation moves out and the financial base of the congregation starts to corrode, they're in bad trouble.  Spiritual or otherwise, they're in bad trouble.

[20:39:25]


The McLean Baptist Church found themselves in that position.  The Little Flower Catholic Church found itself in a similar situation and they decided that in order to maintain their congregation, they were forced to maintain the neighborhoods to build it.  So they got together with the Memphis Interfaith group – 

[0:21:00]

and they developed – That was the first beginning of what came to be known as the Vollintine-Evergreen Association.


It was primarily the action of the ministers in self-defense that really stabilized the neighborhood, although they didn't know it at the time.  This was an off-shoot.  They decided that if possible, they were going to keep people from fleeing in fear.  "Don’t worry too much about your house values.  Stay where you are and let's see what's going to happen."  And eventually we turned back.  The situation turned around where people were no longer selling their house because of the black/white situation. 


There were houses that changed hands, but for other reasons like divorces, deaths, estates, and things of that sort.  
[0:22:00]

It transfers out to the neighborhood.
Interviewer:
What kind of blockbusting activity actually went on?

Interviewee:
The real estate agent, as I recall – I wasn't too active in the Association at that time and I really wasn't too familiar with what was going on because we lived in a rented house.  And since we didn't own the house we were very seldom contacted by real estate agents.  But it was the practice of a real estate agent to come to this house and say, "I understand that blacks are moving in next door, or down the street or something.  Why don't you let me sell your house now while I can get a good price for it?"

Interviewer:
And they were actually knocking on doors to do this?

Interviewee:
Yes, mm-hmm.

Interviewer:
How many would you say were doing this?

Interviewee:
How many real estate agents?

Interviewer:
Uh-huh, how many companies were involved [inaudible comment]?

Interviewee:
I imagine there were three or four that were more active than others.  I don't remember – 

[0:23:00]

the names of them but there was one of them that I remember by the time the Vollintine group had grown and gotten a little strength that we actually brought suit against him, or threatened to bring suit against him through the – whatever the federal agency was at the time.

Interviewer:
The Housing Act?  The Fair Housing Act?
Interviewee:
Something like that.  I don't remember exactly.

Interviewer:
The Fair Housing Act was in like 1968.

Interviewee:
Okay, so it – Somewhere around that time.  But anyway, this blockbusting and steering are very insidious things.  It's never something that you can come right out and accuse a man of doing or saying.  First of all, there's no evidence.  But it's not only here in Memphis; it's all over the country.  You had the same thing.  Wherever you had a black/white situation, 
[0:24:00]

which is everywhere in the country, you'll find that when you go to buy a house or you talk to a real estate agent, he's going to steer you where he want – 


He's going to show you the houses that he wants you to see.  If you're white he'll show you certain houses.  If you're black he'll show you other houses.  And he knows what he's doing.  We performed an experiment one time.  A black couple and my wife and I went over to Fairfield Bay.  On this free weekend at Fairfield Bay you agree to go for the trip with the salesman.


So what we did was we arranged ahead of time that we would not go on the same trip – or we would not go with the same salesman at the same time.  We would meet later and compare notes to see just how hard did the salesman try to sell us, the white couple, 
[0:25:00]

compared to how hard did another salesman try to sell the black couple.  It was no secret.  In Fairfield Bay they didn't really try hard to sell the black couple any property over there, whereas they did, really conscientiously, try to sell us the property.

Interviewer:
What if that couple had wanted to buy, what would they have done?

Interviewee:
I don't know.  I don't know.  You might have to ask Harold Waylon when he wanted to join the 100 North Main.  You remember the 100 North Main Club or whatever it was?  They had a club at the top of 100 North Main when Bloomfield first put it up?

Interviewer:
Oh yeah.

Interviewee:
Harold Waylon – They mailed out applications for membership.  They solicited membership by mail and I think Maxine Smith got one and she sent hers back.  J.C. Turret got one and he sent his back.  And Harold and Tilly Waylon got one and they sent theirs back.  I think they wound up – 

[0:26:00]
 
in Federal Court trying to memberships in the club that was being run at the – The Top of the 100 Club I think it was called.


So what would've happened at Fairfield Bay, I don't know.  But I know here in this neighborhood we've had several black people buy in the neighborhood.  We've had several white people buy in the neighborhood.  And I suppose of all the places in Memphis, this is probably the most successful social experiment there is, if you want to call it a social experiment.


As you drive through you see that the houses are well-kept.  You'll find that from driving through, from the outside you can't tell who lives there – white or black, like some neighborhoods that have deteriorated.  But again, you can't tell if they're deteriorating whites or deteriorating blacks living in the house.  


Deterioration is deterioration.  
[0:27:00]
[27:01:24]


I think the thing's that's maintained the neighborhood is the fact that when we've tried to impress on the people who live here that the first sign of decay is the outward appearance of the house.  This is what the Vollintine-Evergreen thing has been trying to emphasize ever since it's started.
Interviewer:
How do you handle it when you see that?  Does the Association do something?

Interviewee:
What we've done is we have a committee.  If one of the neighbors complains, they complain to somebody in the Association.  And they will drive by and see what the condition of the house is to see if the complaint is justified.  And if the complaint is justified they will approach the people who live there, if they can do it diplomatically.  


The other thing that they do if they find that they can't diplomatically solve the problem themselves is we turn it over – 

[0:28:00]

to somebody at City Hall.  We try and see if they're violating some Health Department rule or regulation.

Interviewer:
Who do you deal with at the Health Department?

Interviewee:
Who do we deal with?

Interviewer:
Uh-huh.

Interviewee:
I'm not in contact with it myself so I don't know but I would imagine that there's one department there that you can always count on depending on which side of the fence you're on for either trouble or help and that's the VAT Control Department.  You can always go to the VAT Control Department and say, "This guy's got a lot of high grass in his yard," or something, and they'll come out and look at it.

Speaking of the VAT Control, back here in 1952 when we first moved into the neighborhood, the Garden Apartments at Vollintine and Watkins was one of the nicest – 

[0:29:00]

apartment complexes there was anywhere in the City of Memphis.  I don't know whether you've driven -?

Interviewer:
Who owned those then?

Interviewee:
Who owned them then?

Interviewer:
Mm-hmm.

Interviewee:
I don't know.  If I'm not mistaken, the real estate agent at the time – The name Gerwin comes to mind but I'm not real sure.  I know there's a man in the real estate business, an attorney by the name Gerwin.  I don't know whether he owned them at the time, but they were beautifully kept apartments and real nice.  

Interviewer:
So what happened?

Interviewee:
As the neighborhood changed, the apartments changed.  Eventually the apartments because slums.  I think, and I'm going to have to sound racist at this point, 
[0:30:00]

there was some federal money in there.  And when the Federal Housing rules and regulations said that you could have blacks and whites in an apartment together, again, you've integrated – Your apartment complex is only integrated from the time the first black moves in to the time the last white moves out.


That's true in your school.  It's true in your neighborhood.  That's not an original statement by me but it's a true statement, that in those apartments that's what happened.  A black movement came in and as the blacks came in, the whites moved out.  It eventually became an all black unit.  What happened after that, as to why it deteriorated, I don't know.  Because it's black was not the reason it deteriorated.

I think what we lose sight of  - 

[0:31:00]

is that there's a certain value system that blacks have and whites have.  Some blacks don't have it.  Some whites don't have it.  And I think it's the value system rather than the color of a person which either makes or breaks a neighborhood.

Interviewer:
Well now, I thought ______ is  –  The University _______ _____ integrated.

Interviewee:
Mm-hmm.

Interviewer:
You know, and those certainly haven't deteriorated.

Interviewee:
Mm-hmm, that's right.  Obviously those people have a different value system.  Black and white or black or white have a different set of values than the people who live over here in these other things, black or white.  I don't say that that was the reason.

Interviewer:
What – [audio cuts out].  M-O-R

Interviewee:
M-O-R-R-E-L-L.

Interviewer:
Who is he with?

Interviewee:
I think he has his own real estate agency.  
[31:51:22]

[0:32:00]

At one time he had the franchise for the Arthur Murray Dance Studio here in town, years ago.  He went into the real estate business.

Interviewer:
Is his -?  What's his company's name?  Same name?

Interviewee:
I think it's _____ Morrell Realty Company.  And that's the only name that I can remember.

Interviewer:
Do you know where he's located?  Is he still in the real estate business?

Interviewee:
Mm-hmm.

Interviewer:
Was he censored in any way by -?

Interviewee:
I believe he threatened to sue the organization for slander or something like that, at which point the organization decided it had better incorporate.  So we incorporated at that point to protect the members from any kind of personal liability.  I think what we said or what was said to him at the time was, "If we're wrong, sue us."  And that was the end of it.  


And I think it's kind of like – 
[0:33:00]

I believe in law it's called a consent judgment where the man doesn't say he's guilty or not guilty but he says, "I won't do it anymore."  I think that's probably the action that was taken.  Now whether there was any legal action taken against him, I don't remember.


The people who owned – That was the only real estate agency whose name comes to mind.  The Vollintine Courts over here, I don't know the names of anybody involved at the time here, but I'm sure that if you do your research you can find there's been much, much stuff in the paper about it because of what's going on now.  And I'm sure that if you go back a little bit you can track that down and find out who it was.

Interviewer:
Is there anybody who would know really a lot about it that we could talk to?

Interviewee:
Yeah, probably Joe Howell would be able to – 

[0:34:00]
 
give you as much information as anybody about that particular situation.  The other people that could give you information about VECA and so on are Margaret Dichtel and again, Joe Howell.  Some of the other people who've since moved out the of the neighborhood –
Interviewer:
Where have they gone?

Interviewee:
Various places.  Another person who has been very – active isn't the word, but who's been very cognizant of what we're doing here has been Marty Harving, May Marty Harving on Southwestern because we had tried to use Southwestern facilities because they had access to so many things that were just real good for us.  They had a good ongoing relationship with a man from – 

[0:35:00]

the Brookings Institution who died just recently.  His name skips me.  


But they have a Department of Urban Studies at the Brookings Institution and the man that was there used to teach at Southwestern some years ago and there was a very close relationship between him and Southwestern.  At one point he came down here and we put on a seminar that was very similar –


You remember the seminar that we attended at _____ Field's house?

Interviewer:
Oh, mm-hmm.

Interviewee:
You remember that thing that they had for Temple Israel?

Interviewer:
Mm-hmm.

Interviewee:
Well they put on a very similar thing at Southwestern called Invent the Future.  It was a neighborhood project as to, "Let's write the history – 

[0:36:00]
 
of the next 25 years today.  We skip ahead 25 years.  What do you want your neighborhood to be like in 25 years?  What do you have to do to make this come true or what will happen to make it come true?  It's a very interesting thing that got people to thinking.  And this was one of the activities of this Brookings Institution.

Interviewer:
How many people attended that?

Interviewee:
Thirty-five or 40 if I'm not mistaken.

Interviewer:
From the neighborhood?

Interviewee:
Mm-hmm.  And not only from the neighborhood but Southwestern and from some of the people who lived in the fringe areas of the neighborhood.  For example, we've got several people who lived on the other side of Parkway between Parkway and Poplar in the Midtown area.  They are vitally interested in what we do here.  There are many people who live in Hyde Park that although – 

[0:37:00]

they're not in the immediate neighborhood, what we do affects them and what they do affects us.  So we kind of keep in touch with each other.

Female: 
Didn't VECA's boundaries at one time go past North Parkway?  Golden Park?

Interviewee:
It might have.  I don't ever remember anybody going out and putting a flag up and saying, "I claim this territory in the name of the king and VECA and so on."  I think it kind of – just whoever was interested joined or didn't join if they weren't.

Interviewer:
Well going back again, as you've seen the shopping change for various reasons, how else have you seen the change of time affect the neighborhood?  You've mentioned the schools.

Interviewee:
Mm-hmm.  The changes have been, first of all, with the change in the shopping habits.  The commercial establishments around – 

[0:38:00]

the area have had tough going.  Not only in this neighborhood, but in every place where people want the bigger selections that they get at the bigger stores and they're willing, apparently, to sacrifice the personal touch that you get when you go to Bosey's store.


Mr. Bosey, on Election Day for example, we'd send up to Bosey's Grocery Store and Mr. Bosey makes the finest ham sandwiches anywhere in this end of the town.  And he makes them personally or his son does.  The personal touch is gone.  After all, Mr. Montesi doesn't live in the neighborhood.  He doesn't care what happens to his neighborhood.  Bosey lives in the neighborhood.   

Borg – You can go into Borg's Pharmacy and you see there's Jack Borg.  You don't go into Walgreen's and see Mr. Walgreen.  I think this makes a difference – 

[0:39:00]

in the way people's attitudes are in their mind.  And by the same token, the living patterns of people have changed.  You'll find truly in every neighborhood with the advent of television, with the advent of air conditioning, and with the advent of the home freezer, your entire lifestyle has changed.  


It used to be you could go down to the Bobbitt Smart Drug Store and sit there at the counter.  And in the evening, all the kids came in and had ice cream.  You don't see a neighborhood ice cream store, except the Baskin Robbins, which is trying bring what we had all the time.  Only they've brought it back someplace else because you don't see – You never meet Mr. Baskin and you never me Mr. Robbins, and they don't know you by name, nor does anybody else know you by name.

You can walk up and down your street, 
[0:40:00]

walk up and down this street, and I imagine in this neighborhood there will be more people who know their neighbors by name probably than be any other neighborhoods there are, even though we still don't know everybody on the street.  There was a time when people use to sit out on their front porch in the summer time and talk to each other.  Now with television and air conditioning, you don't sit out on the front porch.


The minute you come in from work you run into the house and you pull this wall around you.  It's a sad commentary and it's not only that but it's the history of what's going on in the country today.

Interviewer:
Do you think the neighborhood contact and life will ever come back?

[40:42:07]

Interviewee:
Not of its' own free will.  I think it will come back when it's forced on us.  And it will be forced on us when conditions – Let's say transportation or gasoline gets so high – 

[0:41:00]

or so scarce that when my wife goes to the grocery store the only sensible, human thing to do is to call Maryann Fleishman across the street and say, "Let's go to the grocery store together."


Or ask Mrs. Pierce across the store, "Can I get you anything from the grocery store while I'm going?"  I think that we've all become so focused on ourselves to the exclusion of the other fellow.  Everybody goes his own way.  I don't think it'll come back.  It'll come back but it'll be forced on us.  You see it today where – Who lives next door to you?

Interviewer:
The Deers on one side and the Olives on the other.  [Laughter]
Interviewee:
Okay, how about across the street.

Interviewer:
The ________.

Interviewee:
Okay, what about if you were looking out your back window and you saw the kitchen of the house behind you on fire.  Would you know who to call – 

[0:42:00]

to tell them their house is on fire?
Interviewer:
Yes.

Interviewee:
You would?  This is a concept that I've been trying to get across in this neighborhood for I don't know how long.  

Interviewer:
Well but it's been like that in this neighborhood hasn't it?  At least it was.  I know [inaudible comment].

Interviewee:
Well, I don't know.

Interviewer:
It seems like we're –

Interviewee:
It has been since we've lived here, but you see, I know that the Gunther's live across the street.  Ms. Pierce lives over there.  Ms. Datillo lives over there.  Ms. Byrd lives over there.  Silversteen lives over there.  Davis lives behind me.  I don't remember the name of these people over here.

Interviewer:
But these people have been here a long time.

Interviewee:
Yes.

Interviewer:
When somebody new moves in, do you go call on them?

Interviewee:
We have started to do that but it's been just recently.  One of the things, and I think this is true again in every neighborhood.  You have to draw the fine line of when am I being a neighbor and when am I being a nosey busybody?  
[0:43:00]

Sometimes it's hard to determine which you're doing.  I think there's a radio commercial where the woman met her neighbor because she smelled her neighbor's coffee cooking and the neighbor smelled the cake baking.  So the two of them got together and they had coffee and cake.


Sometimes in today's atmosphere you don't walk down the street at night anymore, unfortunately.

Interviewer:
Has there been a lot of crime in this neighborhood?

Interviewee:
No more than any other neighborhood, but it's just that people just don't walk down the street.  I think today you'll find more people walking around here than you will in a lot of other neighborhoods because we have sidewalks.  In a lot of neighborhoods you don't even have sidewalks, not because they're too poor to have a sidewalk, but because they don't want sidewalks.  


We see kids playing up and down on bicycles, something that –
[0:44:00]

with the windows open in the spring time you get kids hollering and screaming and singing and having a great time outside.  It's delightful.  So many neighborhoods you don't know there are any kids around because either they've been hustled off to the sandlot ball game or something like that or some organized activity.  But just kids playing on the street; you don't see them anymore.

Interviewer:
Well, maybe you could go back then to describe, without being general, what is it like here now?

Interviewee:
What is it like?  I think that the future is probably going to be the fact that our neighborhood is probably going to become – if I can use the work assimilated – into the society like the other neighborhoods – 

[0:45:00]

because we can see that it's a tough, tough job to maintain the neighborliness that we think we've got.  One thing, people have so many other activities that draw them in all different directions that you don't have a focal point in a neighborhood that you used to have.
[45:23:04]


You used to have a focal point where all the kids went to the same school.  You don't have that anymore because kids are paired or they're bussed or for whatever reason, you don't have all the common meeting ground at the school that you used to have.  You don't have the – Everybody goes to a different church.

Interviewer:
Well that's always been true though.

Interviewee:
And it's always been true, but –

Interviewer:
But this neighborhood has a lot of neighborhood churches.

Interviewee:
Yeah, but the people in the neighborhood don't go to the churches in the neighborhood.  The people go to their different churches.  I think; I'm not too familiar with what –

[0:46:00]
 
happens at all of the churches, but I know that probably the Catholic Church has maintained their membership in the neighborhood probably more so than everybody else's church.  I know that people who belong to the McLean Baptist Church have moved out.


Some of them may have transferred their memberships.  Maybe they haven't.  I don't know.  The Baron Hirsch used to be a focal point for the Jewish community here that lived here.  But now that's gone because most of the Jewish community lives someplace else and very seldom – And only two days a year do they show up back down here.
Interviewer:
Well what about they've moved their Sunday school out east.  What do you think it would do for the neighborhood if the whole congregation lived out east?

Interviewee:
If the whole congregation moved out east – I don't think it's an "if."  I think the whole congregation has already moved out east.

Interviewer:
No, I'm not talking about the people.  
[0:47:00]

I'm talking about the facilities.

Interviewee:
You mean the building?

Interviewer:
Yeah.

Interviewee:
The building itself – we have – A couple of years ago we fought with the Baron Hirsch to keep their congregation here – to keep the building here, because it was our understanding that they wanted to sell the building.  We were very upset about them selling the building because at the time the feeling was that this building would make a real fine community center.  


Those people who have been inside Baron Hirsch, the sanctuary itself, it would just be a shame to take the building and turn it into a basketball court of something like that.  When community development came up with $3 Million here a few years ago, one of our neighborhood spokesmen, Mr. N.T. Greene (G-R-E-E-N-E) –

[0:48:00]

wanted this whole Baron Hirsch bought as a neighborhood center.  


We violently opposed that for the simple reason that there were already enough places for kids to play (we felt) in the neighborhood and that they didn't need the Baron Hirsch.  And we could see that the Baron Hirsch being where it was; at least if it wasn't an asset, at least it wasn't a liability.  So we were happy to have it there.  The entire congregation having moved away, you can't force people to come back and go to church.

Interviewer:
Well no wait.  I don't think the entire congregation has moved away.

Interviewee:
No, but so many of them have.  There are very few people who live in the neighborhood who go to Baron Hirsch.  I don't have the roster, but if you were to take the attendance roster and zip code it you'll find that – 

[0:49:00]

there are very few people who belong to Baron Hirsch who live in this neighborhood.

Interviewer:
What is the zip code here?

Interviewee:
38107.  In fact, if you know Gene Goldberger, I think Gene Goldberger and I are probably the only two members of the Temple Israel congregation that do not live in 38117 or 38138.  He called – I went fishing with him the other day and he calls himself the "token poor Jew of the Temple Israel's Board of Directors."  [Laughter]
Interviewer:
We were just saying that the older people who belong to Baron Hirsch who still live in the neighborhood.

Interviewee:
Yeah, well the older people who belong to any place, many of them still live in the neighborhood because if they sold their homes it would cost them a tremendous amount of money to go somewhere else.  They couldn't live anyplace for – 

[0:50:00]

the same amount of money that it costs for them to live in a paid for house.  And so many people live here in paid for houses that all they've got is there upkeep and their taxes and insurance.  Today, if you sold one of these houses that you bought for –


Let's say you bought it for $17,000.00 many, many, many years ago.  If you sold it for $50,000.00, which is triple what you paid for it, you would have to go out and invest.  You'd have to pay somebody else three times what their house is worth or you rent an apartment.  And if you've been living in a house, it's tough to pull back into an apartment if you have stuff strewn around in garages and three or four different places.

So many of the people in the neighborhood will live here until they die because they can't afford to go someplace else.  Some of them who like to live here  - 

[0:51:00]

are perfectly content.  Others who would like to go someplace else and can't afford it; they'll tolerate it until they die.

Interviewer:
And do you think that when they sell those houses that they'll be sold to black couples or white couples?

[51:16:15]

Interviewee:
It's hard to tell.  The houses that will be sold in the neighborhood will be sold for such reasons as the old people died and the young generation that inherited the property who already live someplace else; they will put the house up for sale and sell it to whoever comes along.  And I don't know if black or white will enter into the sale because it doesn't matter to them who buys the house.  For one thing, in our neighborhood we have a lot of professional people of different types of professions living here who live here because it's convenient for them to live – 

[0:52:00]
 
in this neighborhood.


St. Jude Hospital is within bicycling distance of this neighborhood.  The Southern College of Optometry and the entire Medical Center is within bicycle distance of here.  We have – In one of these my wife wrote an article here.  I think there were 17 or 19 social workers who live here in the neighborhood.  It was in last month's issue.  Now nobody really knows why so many social workers live here, but they do.


There are a lot of people who work for The Commercial Appeal and Press _______ who live here in the neighborhood again because they may like being a little bit – They don't hear the same ________.  I don't remember the exact phrase, but just like me.  I don't want to live out east – 

[0:53:00]

because everybody lives out east.  The other thing that I like about living in this neighborhood, and many people do, is with transportation being what it is, you're closer to downtown if downtown ever comes back.  


You're closer to a lot of things here.  We have Overton Park.  Whether you use it or not, it's here.  We have the library, the main library, which is a fantastic place for me, which is only five or six minutes away by car or you can bicycle if you want to go that way.  There are a lot of things we've got here.  There are a lot of things we've got here that well, unfortunately, people don't realize.
Interviewer:
You're talking about the old _____ ______ pool and a male Jewish community center.
Interviewee:
Yeah, mm-hmm, over on Fortas Street. 

[0:54:00]
Interviewer:
Right and you think that it would help the neighborhood if that were revitalized?  It's not really very close.

Interviewee:
It would revitalize the Midtown section.

Interviewer:
Right, but that's not really close to this area.

Interviewee:
No, it's not, but it's certainly closer than the Jewish Community Center is now, which is about 17 miles from here.

Interviewer:
I know that, but there are other pools –

Interviewee:
Oh yeah.

Interviewer:
Where do the kids here go swimming?

Interviewee:
They can go swimming at the Fairground swimming pool which is not too far _____ ______.  They can go – Another swimming pool is up here at the Fraser Community Center.  There's another swimming pool between here and downtown.  There's one at 2nd and what is it?  You've been working in the Green Mall area -
Interviewer:
Oh, right.  

Interviewee:
swimming pool.  Again –

Interviewer:
The Malone.

Interviewee:
Malone pool.

Interviewer:
But that's pretty far too.

Interviewee:
Again, it depends on how badly you want to get there. 

[0:55:00]
Interviewer:
But there is no swimming pool, except for private ones, anywhere near this area.

Interviewee:
No, there's a wading pool at the Vollintine School grounds.  There is no swimming pool, but you can look at it two ways.  People can live without a swimming pool or people that must swim; they can go to where the swimming pool is.  And when you talk about things being close, it just depends on your sense of values as to how far do you want to go to do what has to be done?

Interviewer:
VECA reorganization fighting fear and how the elderly want someone else to fight the battles for them?

Interviewee:
Yeah.  Frequently, even though I'm no longer an officer in VECA, people know that I'm still interested in it.  From time to time I still get telephone calls from people who are concerned about  - 

[0:56:00]

something in the neighborhood but for some reason or another will not take direct action themselves.  One of them – One of the people in the neighborhood recently called me to tell me about some most unusual happenings in their neighborhood which involved several cars that looked like they might be mafia cars.  

They were all the same color.  They were all equipped with two-way radios.  She even mentioned that on the porch at the house where these cars were parked in front of that from time to time the porch light would change from red to green to amber.  This was – She said, "There's something unusual going on in the house."  Now I don't know what it is.

Interviewer:
Is this the immediate VECA neighborhood that this took place?

Interviewee:
This is on the fringe of VECA, but this woman knew that several of us in VECA were more or less involved in having – 

[0:57:00]
 
a line of communication to somebody that might be able to do it.  So I carried the information over to somebody that I thought would be influential at least if it was – They suggested that I give this information to the narcotics squad, which I did.  And that was where the story ended as far as I'm concerned.


Sometime in the future we may read in the paper where a drug ring or something was broken that had red, green, and amber lights on the front porch and things of that sort.  I think there's an attitude everywhere, "Let's let somebody else solve our problems for us regardless of how -."

Interviewer:
So VECA feels that – Well VECA's the sort of impersonal somebody else who tries to get things done.

Interviewee:
Yeah, we probably consider our – If anything, we would be the George of "Let George Do It."  Or at least – 

[0:58:00]

people consider us to be George.  Whether we are or not, I don't know. 
[58:08:13] 


________ was killed here on University several months ago and the immediate reaction from the Press ______ was: what is VECA going to do about it?  Well, the woman is dead.  What is VECA going to do about anybody getting killed?  "Aren't you going to have a meeting?"  No, we're not going to have a meeting.  "Why not?"

Interviewer:
So people kept saying, "What's VECA going to do about it?"  And you said, "Well, what can we do?  She's gone."

Interviewee:
Yeah, what can we do?

Interviewer:
Did you help fight the fear among older residents?

Interviewee:
We were asked if we were going to have a meeting and although I wasn't the one to call the meeting or not to call the meeting, it was my own feeling that you wouldn't accomCatch-22plish anything  - 

[0:59:00]

by having a meeting.  The only thing you do with meetings is what do you do?  Pass a resolution that you're against people being killed in the neighborhood?  Yeah, I'll vote for that.  But other than that, what else are you going to do?


The three guys were caught very soon after the murder.  The neighborhood – The fellows were seen by neighbors.  You can't spend the rest of your life looking out the window to see who's riding up and down the street.  And although it's nice to have a thing called Neighborhood Watch, which we have had in the neighborhood from time to time, you just can't possible spend all of your time sitting at the window watching for burglars.  If that's the case then nobody would ever leave their houses, in which case the entire penal system is wrong because they've locked up the burglars whereas we're the ones who have locked ourselves up.

[1:00:00]
Interviewer:
Do you think it's always going to be a concern to have integration of neighborhoods.
Interviewee:
Because as long as you have the black/white situation that you have in this country, you're always going to have a problem.  And if you think that everything is peaches and cream – Do you happen to have a CB radio in your car?

Interviewer:
No.

Interviewee:
Drive down the highway sometime with a CB radio on and listen to what goes on between the black truck drivers and the white truck drivers, or a black voice and a white voice.  We're a long way from integrated society, believe me.  

Interviewer:
Well, do you think it might turn out to be something of a socioeconomic difference?  For instance there are black people who live in this neighborhood who are very lovely people and do very well.

Interviewee:
Yeah, but in general –
[1:01:00]
 
In general I think that the situation is not going to get any better because nobody's willing to take the first step.

Interviewer:
Do you feel there'll be more white flight from this neighborhood?

Interviewee:
Eventually I think there will be, mm-hmm.  I think there'll be white flight from everywhere.

Interviewer:
Where can they fly?

Interviewee:
I don't know.  I don't know.  The situation is not resolving itself.  You've got an odd situation politically in that as the whites leave the center city and move to the suburbs, by default political power goes into the hands of the black.  Now, until such time as the black educational system, or the integrated educational system, builds the black level of education up to where it can be competent, you're going  - 

[1:02:00]

to have a sad situation politically.


And I mean this in big numbers.  I work at the polls on Election Day and the way the people are manipulated, not only black people, but the elderly white people and the not so elderly white people.  Everybody is manipulated politically.  Have you ever heard of Jake Butcher before, before he ran for Governor?  You had because you're active politically to a certain extent aren't you?


Most people had never heard of Jake Butcher.  Most people had never heard of Lamar Alexander.  The man who makes the politician today is Deloss Walker and his advertising agency.  He takes an absolute nobody and by the time Election Day comes along, 
[1:03:00]

he is a savior.  He is the only answer to the problems of the State of Tennessee and here's a guy that you've never even heard of six months before.  It's all public relations and advertising.  It's amazing what that can do.

Interviewer:
Well, we're going to have an interesting Mayor's race in Memphis.

Interviewee:
Yes we are.  Yes we are.

Interviewer:
Does this neighborhood -?  Well of course, I'm sure the vote has changed through the years as the populations have changed through the years.  In fact I did see some voting records posted somewhere.

Interviewee:
I think that –

Interviewer:
Is this an active political neighborhood?

Interviewee:
Not as much as in your Governor, Fox Meadows sections of town –
[1:03:44]
[End of Audio]
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